FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/14/2020 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98062-4

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

COA No. No. 77769-6-I

JEFFREY HALEY, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

KATHLEEN HUME, an individual; and FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, formally known as Pacific Northwest Title Company,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Julie Spector

JEFF HALEY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW (corrected)

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 Linda B. Clapham, WSBA No. 16735 John R. Welch, WSBA No. 26649

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

I. INTRODUCTION

Division I's published opinion misapplies easement law, contrary to its own recent decision in *Rowe v. Klein* and to this Court's decisions in *Thompson v. Smith* and *McDonald v. Ward*,¹ among others. It ignores the basic principle that does not require the holder's use to maintain the right to an easement, though here Petitioner *did* make use of the easement. By affirming dismissal on statute of limitation grounds, the Decision functionally excised from statutory warranty deeds the meaning of future warranties of quiet enjoyment and the seller's duty to defend, which warranties are not triggered until breaches, which typically occur after the sale, as *Rowe v. Klein* just made clear. By refusing to apply the discovery rule, the Decision prevents recovery for an injured buyer from a seller's *admitted*, hidden breach of present warranties. Here, four years before the sale, the seller abandoned the easement sold to the buyer in 2005, but did not disclose the "abandonment" to the buyer at the time of sale. The abandonment was never publically recorded. It was hidden and undisclosed to the buyer until litigation ensued

¹ Rowe v. Klein, 2 Wn.App.2d 326, 409 P.3d 1152 (2018); Thompson v. Smith, 59 Wn.2d 397, 367 P.2d 798 (1962); McDonald v. Ward, 99 Wash. 354, 169 P. 851 (1918).

between the buyer and the servient estate holder in 2012. Yet the discovery rule was not applied, denying him any recovery.

In short, even though the seller admitted breaching the statutory warranty deed by not disclosing the "abandonment" of the easement in 2001 when she sold it in 2005; and even though there was nothing to put the buyer on notice of the seller's abandonment during his use of it from 2005 to 2012, the six-year statute of limitation was applied from the date of the 2005 sale to deny the buyer any relief against the seller for her *admitted* breach of the warranty deed. Review should be granted to demonstrate that there can be several paths to relief for an injured buyer, including use of the discovery rule when the breach was hidden and not apparent.

The Decision also affirmed dismissal of the buyer's claim against his title insurer for denying him a defense from a quiet title counterclaim in the 2012 litigation over the easement. The Decision conflicts with this Court's decisions by allowing the title insurer to look *beyond* the "eight corners" of the counterclaim and policy to determine its duty to defend. Review should be granted to insure that title insurance companies are bound by, and must comply with, the same rules as other insurers in determining their duty to defend.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER & DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Jeff Haley asks this Court to accept review of the published Court of Appeals decision filed September 9, 2019 ("Decision"), in the Appendix at A-1 to A-19. The panel denied Haley's motion for reconsideration on December 9, 2019 after calling for an answer and reply. *See* A-20-41 (reconsideration motion); A-42-61 (Haley's reply); App. A-62 (order).

The Decision affirmed the summary judgment dismissing Haley's claim against the seller Kathleen Hume ("Hume" or "Seller") for breach of the warranties in the statutory warranty deed for residential real property, and affirmed dismissal of Haley's claim against his title insurer First American Title Insurance Company ("First American") for breach of its duty to defend Haley in the underlying litigation over the easement and bad faith.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with our settled law of easements, including McDonald v. Ward, Thompson v. Smith, and Rowe v. Klein, that "mere nonuse" does not extinguish an easement, and that an "ousting" on part of an easement does not extinguish the remainder?

- 2. Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to confirm the discovery rule applies to the statute of limitations for a breach of warranty claim on a statutory warranty deed where the nature of the breach: 1) is not disclosed at the time of the real property sale; 2) is not readily apparent to the buyer; and 3) the buyer was not put on inquiry notice of the breach, consistent with *1000 Virginia Ltd. Partn. v. Vertec Corp.*, and *Stewart v. Coldwell Banker Comm. Group, Inc.*?
- 3. Whether review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the published Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court requiring an insurer to determine its duty to defend only from the eight corners of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint, including *Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co., Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd,* and *Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.*?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts re Easement and Statutory Warranty Deed Issues.²

1. The underlying *Haley v. Pugh* litigation.

When Haley bought his home in 2005 from Hume the

purchase included an easement. He used the easement area

continuously from the date of purchase in 2005. A dispute arose in

early 2012 between the Haley and the third-party neighbor, Pugh,

over use of the easement area when Haley indicated he wanted to

² The following summarizes what is set out in more detail on Haley's Opening Brief, pp. 5-15 (easement issue) and 34-37 (title insurance issue), and Haley's Consolidated Reply, pp. 2-5 (correcting misstatements of facts by respondents). As noted in the reconsideration briefing below, the Decision does not accurately state the extent of Haley's use of the easement area. *See* App. A-23 to A-25 and A-26 to A-29 (Decision truncated scope of easement and its use by Haley in its analysis and precludes a wronged buyer from effective relief where the breach is hidden).

use a part of it for parking, as he was entitled to do per the recorded easement. Although Pugh claimed the easement no longer existed because it had been abandoned or extinguished, there was no documentary evidence of any such abandonment or extinguishment, and the recorded easement was still of record.

In July 2012, Haley sued Pugh to protect against any potential loss of property rights by adverse possession. Pugh counterclaimed to quiet title to the easement in him. To establish the easement was abandoned on summary judgment, Pugh submitted a declaration on reply from Seller Hume in mid-November, 2012, in which she swore she had abandoned the easement in 2001. But any "abandonment" was never recorded, made public, or disclosed until the 2012 declaration. Haley immediately tendered to First American on receipt of Hume's declaration. First American denied it had a duty to defend Haley's recorded title to the easement. Haley sent a detailed response to the denial to First American, to no avail. See CP 613-617, pp. A-59 to A-63. Title was then quieted in Pugh in February 2013 and Haley's appeal was denied in 2014. The timeline of the *Pugh* litigation is in the appendix at A-63.

2. The present suit: *Haley v. Hume & First American*.

After Haley's appeal was denied, foreclosing relief from Pugh, he brought this action against Hume for breach of her statutory warranty deed, and against First American for its failure to defend him against Pugh's counterclaim. The trial court dismissed Haley's claims under the statutory warranty deed as beyond the statute of limitations, stating in its oral decision that the discovery rule cannot apply to an action on the underlying real estate sales contract ("REPSA"). *See* Opening Brief, pp. 15-16 (summary judgment hearing). This ignored the fact that Haley's claim was brought solely on the statutory warranty deed, not the REPSA. *See* Opening Brief, pp. 7-8 (Haley's complaint). The trial court also dismissed the claim against First American, also without elaboration.

3. Court of Appeals Published Decision.

Division One's published Decision misunderstood the scope of the easement and Haley's continuous use of it for years as established in the record with a result that is contrary to the settled law of easements and to the duties of insurers. The Decision effectively immunizes a seller from accountability when failing to disclose the nature of the real estate rights sold, leaving a blameless buyer with no remedy against the seller. The Decision also conflicts with a basic tenet of insurance law which permits an insurer to look *only* to the "eight corners" of a complaint and the policy in

determining its duty to defend.

B. Facts re Title Insurance Issue: the Decision Releases Title Insurance Companies From Being Bound By and Having to Comply With the Same Rules as Other Insurers in Determining Their Duty to Defend.

Haley tendered a claim for defense to First American by letter

attaching a copy of the counterclaim of Pugh alleging, generally:

The 1979 easement has been effectively abandoned and extinguished for its stated purpose of vehicular and pedestrian ingress, egress and right of way. Defendant/Counterclaim plaintiff John F. Pugh seeks an order quieting title in the 1979 easement area declaring all rights granted plaintiff/counterdefendant Haley in and to the easement area extinguished, terminated and abandoned as a matter of law.

CP 847-850; CP 580-582.

First American denied its duty to defend, CP 609-611, citing to and relying upon facts not found in the Pugh counterclaim. First American first cited to Paragraph III of Pugh's counterclaim describing a Notice of Decision by the City of Mercer Island approving an alteration of the easement area (CP 609-610), but did not tie that claim by Pugh to any basis for denial of its duty to defend. Second, First American incorrectly relied on the definition of "land" in the title policy to conclude that the easement is not specifically insured, ignoring the fact that the easement *is* specifically recorded and *is* insured by First American - a fact First American later conceded in its briefing. CP 421. Third, First American concluded that the "alteration in the use of the easement area" claimed by Pugh would have been disclosed by inspection of the premises. CP 610. How could First American possibly know if Haley's ownership and title to the easement area was affected by Pugh's claimed alteration to the easement without impermissibly relying on information outside the counterclaim of Pugh?

Haley responded to First American by detailed letter with an explanation of why First American was incorrect and why it should provide a defense. CP 613-617. First American responded by letter affirming its denial of its duty to defend. CP 620-622. In addition to the reasons given in its initial denial letter, First American added *more* facts outside of the Pugh counterclaim to justify its denial: the declaration of Hume and two declarations submitted by George Steier, the Principal Planner for the City of Mercer Island Development Services Group. CP 620. The trial court entered summary judgment quieting title in Pugh to the surface area of the easement; CP 855-857; and Haley was forced to provide his own defense against Pugh's claims and to pursue, without the benefit of his title insurer, his breach of warranty claims against Hume.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1), and (2) because the Decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *McDonald v. Ward* and *Thompson v. Smith*, and the Court of Appeals' published decision in *Rowe v. Klein*, among others.
 - 1. Review should be accepted and the Court of Appeals reversed to insure the settled law of easements and warranty deeds is given effect.

Washington follows the majority view that the "mere nonuse" of an easement does not terminate or diminish the easement holder's right to use of the easement. *Thompson v. Smith*, 59 Wn.2d 397, 407-409, 367 P.2d 798 (1962), paraphrasing *Netherlands American Mortgage Bank v. Eastern Railway & Lumber Co.*, 142 Wash. 204, 252 P. 916 (1927) ("mere nonuse" does not extinguish an easement, no matter how long, but does permit the servient estate holder to use the encumbered parcel until such use), and citing out of state cases and treatises dating to 1899. See Opening Brief, pp. 17-20 (discussing Washington law of easements).

These are important principles because, under the law of easements, without clear notice at the time of conveyance that Hume had abandoned or extinguished her easement, whatever use or nonuse she made of the easement did not affect the easement rights she was transferring to Haley. By statute, when Hume sold Haley the property with the statutory warranty deed in 2005, Hume made five separate covenants to Haley at conveyance: that she was seized of an estate in fee simple; that she had a good right to convey that estate; that title was free of encumbrances; that Haley would have quiet possession; and that she would defend his title. RCW 64.04.030. *See* Opening Brief, p. 20-22.

In 2012, however, Hume stated by declaration that she had abandoned her easement rights in 2001, four years before she sold those same easement rights to Haley, thus *admitting* she breached those covenants as to the easement. Haley, understandably, wanted to either get what he paid for – the easement – or get compensated for getting less than was represented at conveyance. When he lost the quiet title action with Pugh based on Hume's declaration, Haley's recourse was against Hume as the seller to be made whole.

Hume's defense was, in part, that Haley had to be on notice that the easement was abandoned because Pugh "possessed" it by the change in the terrain between 2001 and 2005, essentially claiming an "ouster" which terminated the entire easement. The Decision accepted this argument and therefore erred because, even if Hume could claim an "ouster" based on changed landscape (changes predating the purchase so that Haley was not aware of them), it was at most a *partial* ouster given the undisputed evidence Haley continuously used the easement area since his 2005 purchase, and both *McDonald* and *Rowe v. Klein* recognized that the part of an easement which the holder could still use was not extinguished by an ouster of another portion.³

The Decision muddies the current state of the law with a published decision that is at odds with what easement law and warranty deed law has been in Washington for over a century.

³ See McDonald, 99 Wash. at 358-359 (buyer's action on warranty of title accrues from the date of eviction but does not extend to the portion from which buyer was constructively evicted by railroad right of way); *Rowe*, 2 Wn.App.2d at 338-341 (to same effect).

As pointed out in Haley's reconsideration papers, the Decision's analysis ignores settled law that mere non-use does not extinguish an easement (*e.g.*, *Thompson v. Smith*) and the undisputed facts that Haley *was* using the easement area such that present and future use was not precluded, there was no total "ouster" from the easement, and there could be no "notice" of a breach by Hume that would trigger Haley's requirement to take legal action. *See* Appendix, pp. A-23-25; A-28-29; A-46-49.

2. Review should be granted and the Court of Appeals reversed because it cannot overrule this Court.

Moreover, the Decision in effect overrules the controlling and

binding authority of McDonald v. Ward, which held:

Appellant having been evicted by the assertion of a superior title, respondent is bound on his covenant of warranty, and, the action having been begun within the period of limitation after the eviction, he is entitled to recover.

McDonald, 99 Wash. at 358 (reversing to require relief for evictee).

Here Haley was "evicted" by the 2014 superior court order quieting title for the entire easement in Pugh. Just as the respondent in *McDonald* was responsible under the general warranty of title on an action begun "within the period of limitation after the eviction," so Hume is also responsible under her statutory warranty deed since Haley's suit was filed well within the six year limitation period following his eviction in 2014. The Decision's failure to recognize Haley's warranty claim against Hume is thus directly contrary to *McDonald* and, in effect, overrules it, which the Court of Appeals cannot do. Instead, the Decision declared Haley was on notice the easement was extinguished when that could not have been the case given his continuous use since 2005 and the settled law of easements. The Decision consequently misapplied the law to what are the operative facts. The result of the published Decision is that the settled law that a servient estate (Pugh) can occupy an easement area without causing abandonment of the easement is effectively overruled, minimally where the occupation was allegedly "obvious", despite its continuous use by the dominant estate, *i.e.*, Haley.

The Court of Appeals does not have authority to overrule Supreme Court precedent. *1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 578, 146 P.3d 423 (2006). Instead, the Decision should have adhered to *McDonald* and *Thompson* and noted it felt that the old rule was no longer appropriate in the current time, in order for the Supreme Court to look at it properly, a settled practice.⁴

B. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to confirm that the discovery rule applies to allow relief for a buyer where the breach of a statutory warranty deed's warranties is hidden and not readily apparent or discoverable by the buyer, consistent with 1000 Virginia Ltd. Partnership v. Vertec Corp., Stewart v. Coldwell Banker Comm. Group, Inc.

The discovery rule was first applied to statutes of limitation in this state in tort cases, beginning with the medical malpractice case of *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 453 P.2d 631 (1969). The Court has since expanded its application not only to other tort cases, but also to "construction contract cases involving latent defects that the plaintiff would be unable to detect at the time of breach" as a "logical and desireable expansion of the discovery rule." *1000 Virginia Ltd., supra*, 158 Wn.2d at 578-579. This Court held the discovery rule should be applied as part of the common law goal "to provide a remedy for every genuine wrong", finding it appropriate in

⁴ See, e.g., Keene v. Edie, 80 Wn. App. 312, 314-318, 907 P.2d 1217 (1995), overruled, 131 Wn.2d 822, 935 P.2d 588 (1997) (Court of Appeals held it was bound by the rule that community real property is not subject to execution for a separate tort judgment stated in *Brotton v. Langert*, 1 Wash. 73, 23 P. 688 (1890), laying the groundwork for the Supreme Court to overrule *Brotton* at 131 Wn.2d 822, 830-834, 935 P.2d 588 (1997) so that tortfeasors are not immunized nor victims denied a remedy, as Haley has been here).

construction contract cases where the plaintiff "may have no way of knowing the facts that show that the construction contract was breached..." *Id.*, at 579. The Court pointed out that "it is more equitable to place the burden of loss on the party best able to prevent it, *i.e.*, the contracting party who could avoid breaching the contract." *Id.*, at 580.

All these points apply to Haley's case and show that the discovery rule should apply to allow him relief under the statutory warranty deed's present as well as future warranties. *See* Opening Brief, pp. 20-33 (discussing the five warranties and their breach in this case); Reply Brief, pp. 13-15 (discussing discovery rule).

Both the Court of Appeals and this Court have applied the discovery rule in actions for breach of the implied warranty of habitability, an implied-at-law term in a contract for the sale of a home. *See Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 406, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987); *Virgil v. Spokane County*, 42 Wn. App. 796, 714 P.2d 692 (1986). There is no principled basis to apply the discovery rule to claims based on an implied contract term for habitability but not to claims on an implied contract term in the statutory warranty deed. Review should be granted to clarify this point, correct the trial court and Court of Appeals, and provide relief to Haley, who had no basis to proceed on such a claim until Hume's declaration seven years after the conveyance.

C. Review Should be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Because the Published Decision Conflicts With *Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co., Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, and *Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.* The Decision Violated the Rules of Summary Judgment and Permitted First American to Look Beyond the "Eight-Corners" to Determine Its Duty to Defend Haley.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary

judgment ruling in favor of First American solely on the basis of the

survey exception (Exception 3 in the policy):

This policy does not insure against loss or damage by reason of . . . other matters which would be disclosed by an accurate survey or inspection of the premises.

The Court of Appeals held that if Haley had a survey conducted

when he purchased his property in 2005, "it would have disclosed

that the easement area was exclusively possessed by someone other

than Hume" and "would have disclosed the recorded easement

benefitting Haley's property." Slip Op. at 14, p. A-14. The

Decision states further, in what is nothing but rank speculation, that

a survey would have indicated that the condition of the easement

area in 2005 was inconsistent with the use of the easement that

Haley believed he was acquiring. Slip Op. at 14. There are three basic problems with this part of the Decision, which merit review.

First, the issue with regard to the easement is *not* how the area was being used in 2005. The issue for the title company was whether Haley owned the easement – he did based on the fact that the easement was recorded and First American provided title insurance for that easement. A survey would have done nothing more than show what Haley could see for himself. It would have had no bearing on whether he owned the easement over that land which belonged to Pugh, since it is the nature of an easement right that it sits on the land of another person. *See Nautilus, Inc. v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 13 Wn.App. 345, 534 P.2d 1388 (1975)(dispute over who owned the land will not be answered by a survey). A survey would have been irrelevant.

Second, the Court of Appeals utilized facts outside of the "eight corners" to reach its decision. There is no question that First American relied on facts outside the "eight-corners" when it denied its duty to defend Haley. It is axiomatic under Washington jurisprudence that an insurer's duty to defend is one of the principal benefits of a liability insurance policy. *United Servs. Auto. Ass'n v.* Speed, 179 Wn. App. 184, 317 P.3d 532 (2014). An insurer must determine its duty from the eight corners of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint. *Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn.2d 793, 329 P.3d 59 (2014). An insurer may *not* use facts *outside* the complaint to deny a defense, as First American did here. *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 404-405, 413, 229 P.3d 693 (2010). And, a wrongful failure to defend is bad faith as a matter of law. *Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.*, RRG, 188 Wn.2d 171, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017).

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