FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/7/2020 4:21 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98062-4

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT COA No. 77769-6-I

JEFFREY HALEY, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

KATHLEEN HUME, an individual; and FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, formerly known as Pacific Northwest Title Company,

Respondents.

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO HALEY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas F. Peterson, WSBA #16587 SOCIUS LAW GROUP, PLLC Attorneys for First American Title Insurance Company One Union Square 600 University St., Suite 2510 Seattle, WA 98101 tpeterson@sociuslaw.com 206.838.9100

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Should Deny Petitioner Haley's Request for Review Because the Court of Appeals' Decision does not Conflict with any Previous Supreme Court Decision.

The Court should deny Petitioner Haley's request for review because Haley fails to establish any of the limited considerations governing the acceptance of review in the Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP"). To obtain this Court's review, Haley must show that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court or with a published Court of Appeals decision, or that it raises a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). With respect to the issues that relate to Respondent First American, Haley invokes RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) to argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts both with decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals.⁶ PFR 16.

Haley makes three arguments as to why the Supreme Court should grant review; none of which truly discuss the ostensible reasons review should be granted under RAP 13.4. Rather, Haley's petition simply recycles the same substantive issues argued below. He does little more than pay lip service to RAP 13.4(1) and (2) before rehashing the same settled principles that have now been considered once by the trial court, and twice by the Court of Appeals.

For instance, Haley cites three Supreme Court cases as those with which the Court of Appeals decision purportedly conflicts: *Expedia Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn.2d 793, 329 P.3d 59 (2014); *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010); and *Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co.*, 188 Wn.2d 171, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017). Haley cites these decisions for the proposition that a title insurer cannot

 $^{^{6}}$ Haley's Petition for Review invokes both RAP 13.4(b)(1) *and* (2), ostensibly indicating that Haley believes the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with Supreme Court decisions *and* previously published Court of Appeals decisions. Curiously however, Haley subsequently only lists three cases – all of which were decided by the Supreme Court. Haley does not appear to address any published cases from the Court of Appeals that conflict with the decision below.

look beyond the "eight corners" of the insurance contract and underlying complaint when determining its duty to defend.⁷ PFR 17-18. But Haley does not explain why these cases conflict with the decision below.

The reason for the lack of explanation is that these cases do not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision below. To the contrary, the court below cited two of the three cases in its decision, and did so to reiterate the same proposition that Haley asserts: that a title insurer's duty to defend is determined by the "eight corners" of the insurance contract and the underlying complaint. It is evident from Haley's Petition for Review that there is no true conflict of law between the decision below and that of the Supreme Court or any previously published case of the Court of Appeals. Instead, Haley merely raises the specter of such a conflict in the hopes that this Court will disagree with the sound judgment of the lower courts on the merits of this particular case.

B. First American Properly Denied Haley's Tender of Defense.

Despite Haley's claims, the Court of Appeals decision below correctly decided that First American properly denied Haley's tender of defense based on the eight corners of his insurance policy and Pugh's

⁷ It should be noted, as it was at the Court of Appeals, that Haley did not raise the issues of bad faith or duty to defend at the trial court. First American argued that the Court of Appeals should not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a). The Court of Appeals did not address this issue but First American nonetheless preserves the issue for the Court's consideration of Haley's Petition for Review.

counterclaim. Although First American properly denied Haley's claims based on a number of Policy provisions, the Court of Appeals discussed only "General Exception 3" of the Policy, finding it dispositive of the issue. Slip Op. at 15.

As an initial matter, it is useful to note that the nature of title insurance generally does not cover matters that might affect title that are not recorded in the public records, such as encroachments and adverse possession claims, unless additional policy endorsements are purchased to cover those matters. *See generally*, William B. Stoebuck and John W. Weaver, *Wash. Prac., Real Estate,* § 14.16 (2d Ed., 2019 Update). This concept is incorporated in many of the Policy exceptions and exclusions, including General Exception 3:

This policy does not insure against loss or damage by reason of the following:

Encroachments, overlaps, boundary line disputes, or other matters which would be disclosed by an accurate survey or inspection of the premises.

CP 596. Pugh's counterclaim against Haley unambiguously describes the Easement Area as having "been altered in such a manner as to defeat and render impossible the intended use of the easement." CP 585. Accepting this allegation as true, General Exception 3 bars coverage.

The opinion below references the minimum ALTA/NSPS survey requirements and concludes that "[t]hese minimum ALTA/NSPS

requirements confirm that if Haley had conducted a survey in 2005, it would have disclosed that the easement area was exclusively possessed by someone other than Hume." Slip Op. at 14.

In his Petition, Haley challenges any potential survey results as facts outside the policy and counterclaim. PFR 18-19 However, Haley repeats a crucial admission that acknowledges the correctness of the Opinion: "A survey would have done nothing more than show Haley what he could see for himself." PFR 12. Precisely. Not only would Pugh's possession be disclosed by an accurate survey but, by Haley's own admission, it was a "matter which would be disclosed by an … inspection of the premises." Policy General Exception 3, CP 596. The Opinion below was on point when it stated:

Following the ALTA/NSPS standard, the survey would have noted the evidence of Pugh's possession, noted that the easement was not observable at the time the survey was made, noted that there was evidence of use by someone other than Hume, **and noted that there was a stream in the middle of the easement area**.

Slip Op. at 14 (emphasis added.) The Opinion describes what would have been disclosed by a survey, but the same analysis applies to what Haley could readily observe. It is not disputed (indeed, it would be difficult to miss) that there is a stream that runs through the middle of the Easement. One need not go beyond the four corners of Pugh's counterclaim to know that this fact is essential to Pugh's claim against Haley for which Haley sought coverage and defense by First American. CP 585; Slip Op. at 15. Haley also mistakenly believes that the dispositive issue is whether he owned the easement, as opposed to how he used it. PFR 17. This misses the point. The sole question at issue in General Exception 3 is whether the easement area had "been altered in such a manner as to defeat and render impossible the intended **use** of the easement." Counterclaim, CP 585 (emphasis added). As Judge Andrus pointed out in oral argument, General Exception 3 also references "encroachments." Encroachments, by definition, are not claims of ownership.⁸ They are claims of possession in contradiction of the true owner's ownership. Yet, General Exception 3 also precludes claims relating to encroachments "which would be disclosed by an accurate survey or inspection of the premises." Thus, General Exception 3 does not address ownership, rather it deals with possession and use.

Haley cites *Nautilus, Inc. v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 13 Wn. App. 345, 534 P.2d 1388 (1975) to argue that a survey would not disclose ownership. PFR 17. But again, the issue is not about ownership, and the Opinion below was correct when it stated,

In *Nautilus*, however, the dispute was over who owned the land between the ordinary high water mark and the meander line of a river. The court determined that because this was a legal question about the interpretation of a deed, a survey would not answer it. *Nautilus*, 13 Wn. App. at 349. Here, however, the dispute was not over who owned the easement area but what the easement area's condition was when Haley purchased Lot B. A survey would be able to determine that the condition of the easement area indicated that Pugh – or

⁸ Miriam-Webster defines "encroachment" as "something (as a structure) that encroaches on another's land."

at least someone other than Hume - was in exclusive possession of the area.

Slip Op. at 15.

The title policy at issue spells out in plain language what is insured and what is not. An encroachment that would be disclosed by a survey or one that "Haley could see for himself," is not covered by the policy. The exceptions, which are based upon the essential nature of title insurance, cannot simply be ignored. Haley chose not to purchase the additional coverage. Accordingly, as once stated by this Court:

A survey consistent with the deed would have established that a question of boundary or area existed. [Insured] chose not to purchase coverage for such questions. Under the clear language of the "accurate survey" exception, there was no coverage for this dispute. [Citation omitted.] [Title company] had no duty to defend [insured].

Bernhard v. Reischman, 33 Wn. App. 569, 579, 658 P.2d 2 (1983).

C. If the Court Were to Accept Review, it Should Consider Each and Every Other Policy Exception, Exclusion, and Condition Raised by First American in its Motion for Summary Judgment and at the Court of Appeals

Having determined that it was appropriate to affirm the superior court on the applicability of General Exception 3, the Opinion below found it unnecessary to determine whether any of the other Policy exceptions, exclusions, or conditions apply. Slip Op. at 15. While First American will not reargue each of those other Policy defenses here, we do wish to draw the Court's attention to them to preserve them should review be granted.

 <u>General Exception 1</u>. Of particular note, is General Exception 1. It provides as follows: This policy does not insure against loss or damage by reason of the following:

GENERAL EXCEPTIONS:

1. Rights or claims of parties in possession not shown by the public records.

CP 596. According to the unambiguous allegations in the Counterclaim, in May 2005, when plaintiff purchased the Subject Property, Pugh was in possession of the easement area pursuant to a claim of right based upon plaintiff's predecessor's assent in 2001. CP 585-86. Haley acknowledges the undisputed fact that, in 2005 when he purchased the Haley Property, there was nothing in the public records that extinguished the easement. CP 914-15.

2. <u>Exclusion 3</u>. Haley admits in his Motion that what would be shown on an ALTA/NSPS survey "is nothing more than evidence of what Haley could see for himself when he purchased the property." This acknowledges that he had actual knowledge of Pugh's use and possession of the easement area. This knowledge is particularly pertinent to the first two sections of Exclusion 3, which provide as follows:

Defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims or other matters:

- (a) created, suffered, assumed or agreed to by the insured claimant;
- (b) not known to the Company, not recorded in the public records at Date of Policy, but known to the insured claimant and not disclosed in writing to the Company by the insured claimant prior to the date the insured claimant became an insured under this policy;

3. <u>Exclusion 1(a)</u>. Pugh alleges in his Counterclaim that his possession and use of the Easement area for a watercourse, which is

inconsistent with use of the area for parking or pedestrian and vehicular access, was duly permitted by the City of Mercer Island. CP 585. The standard buffer for a restored watercourse at the time was 25 feet from the center of the water course. Mercer Island Code § 19.07.070 (2005) (amended 2019 at 19.07.180). Haley's desire to put parking spaces in the Easement Area, would inevitably encroach on the wetland buffer and would not be permissible under Mercer Island land use ordinances and the Notice of Decision. *Id.* Because the City of Mercer Island's approved use of the Easement Area precludes Haley's use of it for vehicular and pedestrian access and parking, causing a loss of easement rights, it is excluded from coverage under Policy Exclusion 1(a).

4. <u>Policy Conditions and Stipulations Section 3</u>. This section requires prompt notification of a claim. Haley notified First American of Pugh's counterclaim 51 days after he had lost against Pugh's motion for summary judgment and three days before Haley's **reply** brief was due on his motion for reconsideration. Haley relies on hindsight to argue that extensions were granted and a final order was entered later. But, at the time Haley tendered his claim, First American reasonably concluded that it was too late to take any effective action and denied the claim, in part, on that basis.

D. Attorney's Fees RAP 18

Pursuant to RAP 18, First American requests an award of fees and costs if the Court denies Haley's Petition for Review. Otherwise, First American preserves its request should the Court remand the case.

V. CONCLUSION

There is no conflict with Court precedent here, merely a failure of the Petitioner to grasp the plain meaning of the applicable Policy provisions. Haley fails to identify any conflict between the Opinion below, and any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Further, the Court of Appeals decision correctly decided that First American properly denied Haley's tender of defense based on the eight corners of the Policy and Pugh's counterclaim. As such, First American respectfully requests that the Court deny Haley's Petition for Review.

Submitted this 7th day of February, 2020.

SOCIUS LAW GROUP, PLLC

howl By

Thomas F. Peterson, WSBA #16587 Kevin Eggers, WSBA #53127 Attorneys for Respondent First American Title Insurance Company